RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-21-2017

SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 15AP175

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

THOMAS P. WUENSCH,

Defendant-Appellant,

HEIDI WUENSCH,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE FINAL ORDER OF THE LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, CASE NUMBER 09-CV-752, THE HONORABLE TODD W. BJERKE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT THOMAS P. WUENSCH

PINES BACH LLP

Christa O. Westerberg, SBN 1040530 Susan M. Crawford, SBN 1030716 Aaron G. Dumas, SBN 1087951 122 W. Washington Avenue, Ste. 900 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 Telephone: (608) 251-0101

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. MAY A PLAINTIFF FORECLOSE ON AN ADJUSTABLE RATE NOTE WITHOUT ANY EVIDENTIARY FACTS ESTABLISHING IT AS THE HOLDER OF THE NOTE, BASED SOLELY ON THE SELF-AUTHENTICATION PROVISIONS FOR COMMERCIAL PAPER IN WIS. STAT. § 909.02(9)?

Answered by the circuit court: Yes

Answered by the Court of Appeals: No.

II. IS REMAND TO CIRCUIT COURT NECESSARY WHERE AN APPELLATE COURT DETERMINES A PLAINTIFF HAS NOT MET ITS BURDEN TO OBTAIN FORECLOSURE?

Answered by the circuit court: Not addressed.

Answered by the Court of Appeals: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION OF OPINION

Oral argument has already been scheduled and is appropriate. As

an opinion of the Supreme Court of Wisconsin and to clarify evidentiary

requirements for mortgage foreclosures, the opinion should be published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner Deutsche Bank National Trust Company ("Deutsche Bank")¹ appeals the reversal of a mortgage foreclosure where it neglected to produce any evidence at trial that it held or possessed the Note at issue. This was not the first procedural abnormality associated with this case: as the trial court found, Defendant-Appellant Thomas Wuensch ("Wuensch") was current on his payments when, in August 2007, the mortgagee at the time misapplied the property tax portion of the payment, and, in February 2008, notified him he was in default despite being paid up. Questions common to the foreclosure crisis of 2007 and 2008 also emerged, including whether the Note was improperly or fraudulently assigned.

Despite this, and after five years of litigation, the court admitted a copy of the Note into evidence without an authenticating witness or anything beyond the unsworn statements of Deutsche Bank's counsel that he had displayed the original, wet-ink Note to the court, endorsed in blank. Counsel for Wuensch objected, and the Court of Appeals reversed

¹ The full name of the plaintiff is "Deutsche Bank, National Trust Company as Trustee for American Home Mortgage Assets Trust 2007-2 Mortgage Backed Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-2 by American Mortgage Servicing, Inc., its attorney-in-fact." (R.1.)

due to Deutsche Bank's failure to prove it actually possessed the Note and was entitled to foreclose.

Now, Deutsche Bank urges this Court to affirm its evidentiary shortcut and permit a purportedly self-authenticating Note to stand in for admissible evidence that it possesses the Note it is attempting to enforce. The extreme remedy of foreclosure and use of the courts to take private property requires more. The Court of Appeals properly found that Deutsche Bank had failed to meet its burden to prove it held the Note, and this Court should affirm.

Pre-Trial Proceedings

On August 11, 2009, a complaint was filed initiating foreclosure proceedings on Wuensch's home in Onalaska, Wisconsin. (R.1.) The named Plaintiff was "Deutsche Bank, National Trust Company as Trustee for American Home Mortgage Assets Trust 2007-2 Mortgage Backed Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-2 by American Mortgage Servicing, Inc., its attorney-in-fact." (R.1.:App.33)²

² For the sake of brevity, this brief refers to the plaintiff as "Deutsche Bank," though it is unclear whether plaintiff is a bank, trust, or company, what its actual corporate form is, or whether it even exists as an entity. (*See* R.96 at 7:App.21;App.021;R.91 at 3-11,R.101 Exs. 38-40.)

Attached to the complaint was a copy of a Note naming Wuensch as the borrower and HLB Mortgage as the lender. (R.1:App.40-46.) The Note had two endorsements in it, one from HLB Mortgage to "American Home Mortgage" and the other endorsement was from American Home Mortgage and endorsed in blank. (R.1.) Deutsche Bank was not named in the Note. (R.1:App.46.)

Paragraph 3 of the complaint stated, "That plaintiff is the lawful holder of said Note and mortgage and an assignment or mortgage has been or will be recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds for this county." (R.1:App.33.) Wuensch denied that Deutsche Bank was the holder of the Note and mortgage. (R.2,p.1.) He also counterclaimed for fraud. (R.16,p.2.;R-App.114)

This was the second foreclosure action filed against Wuensch on the property. American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. ("AHMSI") filed the first on June 12, 2008. (R.96:App.19,App.10.) (*See also* R.101:Ex.30.) That case was dismissed on February 23, 2009, because of a discrepancy over possession of the same Note. (R.101:Ex.30.)

Court Trial

After nearly five years of pre-trial proceedings and discovery, a court trial was held on May 19, 2014 and June 25, 2014. Deutsche Bank

called one witness, Rashad Blanchard, a corporate representative of Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen"). (R.103:36-118.) In December 2012, Ocwen took over servicing of the Loan when Ocwen acquired Homeward Residential, Inc. ("Homeward"). (R.103:48:15-20.) Homeward was formally known as AHMSI. (R.103:49:4-10;App.30.) Blanchard's testimony consisted largely of authenticating records in Ocwen's possession, though none were the Note attached to the complaint. Two documents were admitted based on his testimony. (R.101:Exs.9-10, R.App.92-112) Neither mentions Deutsche Bank.

Blanchard did not mention Deutsche Bank's name in his testimony. (*See* R.103:36-118.) He did not produce any documentation showing a contractual relationship between AHMSI, Homeward, or Ocwen and Deutsche Bank. Nor did he produce a power of attorney showing AHMSI, Homeward, or Ocwen were attorneys-in-fact for Deutsche Bank. Blanchard did not produce any evidence that the named Plaintiff existed. Blanchard also did not produce or authenticate the original Note. (*Id.*)

Prior to any witness testifying, Attorney Russell Karnes, identifying himself as appearing for Deutsche Bank, produced a document that he claimed was the original Note and showed it to the court. (R.103 at 4:6-7, 14:8-17:16.) No evidence was presented showing how Deutsche Bank's counsel came into possession of the Note. No evidence was presented showing that Deutsche Bank's counsel was retained by the trust mentioned in the case caption. Over the objection of Wuensch's attorney, the court concluded that the Note presented was the original Note ("Note"). (R.103:15:10-15.) A copy of this Note was then admitted into evidence (R.101:Ex.1.)

A certified copy of the mortgage was also introduced into evidence. (R.101:Ex. 2;App.158-180). The named mortgagor was Wuensch, and the mortgagee was Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. "acting solely as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns." (R.101:Ex.2.) HLB Mortgage was the named lender. (R.101:Ex.2.) Deutsche Bank was not named in the mortgage. (R.101:Ex.2.)

Wuensch attempted to have assignments of mortgage admitted into evidence, but the court refused to admit them on relevance of grounds, based on its finding that "plaintiff is the holder in due course of a Note endorsed in blank." (R.103 at 18:13-20:11, 25:10-28:22, 124:15-125:22; R.96:App.22.) Wuensch also attempted to call Jane Lewis, an expert in handwriting, to address problems with assignment indorsements. (R.103:24:4-25:19, R-App.050-051.) The court did not allow this evidence, due chiefly to its determination that it was not relevant, along with disputes about whether the witness was timely named. (R.103:24:4-25:19, 22:6-13, 125:24-132:16;R-App.049-63.)

Wuensch submitted into evidence an unsigned Pooling and Servicing Agreement ("PSA"), one of the few documents of record that mentions Deutsche Bank. (R.101:Ex.21.) The signature pages of the PSA do not contain signatures above the names of named parties to the Trust. (R:101:Ex.21, p.798.) The pages for notarization are not notarized and do not indicate the respective signatures were notarized. (R.101:Ex.21, pp.799-802;R-App.083-090.) Deutsche Bank did not present any evidence that the PSA was signed, notarized, and consummated. Deutsche Bank had also previously stated in discovery that it shipped the original Note to AHMSI in 2011. (R.106, Ex. 7, p. 2; R-App.119.)

Wuensch testified that he did not initially default, but that AHMSI misapplied his tax payments in the summer of 2007, leading to imposition of penalties he should not have owed and an allegation of default. (R.103 at 135:20-138:19, 140:8-141:7;R-App.064-069; *see also* R.96 at 4; App.18.) When Wuensch attempted to contact AHMSI, they were unresponsive and inconsistent in responding to his efforts to address the issue. (R.103 at 141:8-142:15; R.104:35:15-40:1.) AHMSI claimed it did not receive his February 2008 mortgage payment (R.79:Ex.6.) One representative told

Wuensch to not make any payments until the issues were resolved and the payee was made clear, since AHMSI had by that time gone into bankruptcy. (App.025.)

Wuensch further testified that he did not believe the purported original Note was the one he signed, due to the lack of visible indentations under the signatures. (R.103:160:11-163:17.) Wuensch also testified that there were abnormalities in the mortgage documents, including delayed recordings, a signature that occurred months after Deutsche Bank filed its complaint and backdated to before the filing, and potentially fraudulent signatures. (R.104:6:4-7, 28:22:-33:8;R-App.075-081.)

Trial Court Judgment

The trial court issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Judgement and Order ("Judgment") on December 10, 2014. (R.96:App.15-32.) The court found the Deutsche Bank held the original Note. (R.96 at 1, 6:App.15, 20.) Based on this finding, the court determined Deutsche Bank had standing to foreclose on the mortgage, rejecting Wuensch's arguments that Deutsche Bank had not shown itself to be a going corporate concern capable of enforcing the Note. (R.96 at 9-10.) The court also acknowledged irregularities in how the Note came to

be in the possession of Deutsche Bank, and that AHMSI acted with

unclean hands:

Even if the Plaintiff is without blame for the problems with Wuensch's mortgage, the same cannot be said about the preceding holders of his Note. Although the question of whether Wuensch's Note was fraudulently passed between creditors before it came into the Plaintiff's possession is seemingly beyond the scope of this case, the Court is convinced that the seemingly unregulated transferring of mortgages during the housing bubble and crash contributed to Wuensch finding himself in this position.

AHMSI may have misapplied one or more of Wuensch's payments. He was told that he was in default when he was not. He had difficulty getting any kind of answers from AHMSI after he was notified in February of 2008 that they believed he was in default. The Court found his testimony to be credible, at least in regard to the difficulty he had in communicating with AHMSI. There was no employee of AHMSI able to give him any kind of answers to his questions or provide him any assistance to cure the claimed default. When he did get answers, they were inconsistent regarding the amount he owed. One AHMSI employee purportedly told him to stop making payments while they sorted out the problem. Before he could get any significant answers from AHMSI, he was served with foreclosure papers in the 2008 foreclosure case.

These problems do not appear to be the fault of the current holder of Wuensch's Note, the Plaintiff, but the Court cannot completely ignore the fact that the Plaintiff was passed the Note by the unclean hands of the preceding holders.

(R.96:pp.11-12; App.25-26.)

The court concluded, "Since [Wuensch] willingly accepted the terms

of the Note *but was not responsible for the default*, he should be held

responsible at least up to the time of the default." (R.96:p12; App.26)

(emphasis added). The Court further stated,

Under the strict letter of the law, the Plaintiff is entitled to a judgment of foreclosure as the holder of Wuensch's Note, but it is not fair to Wuensch that the Plaintiff benefit from the potential misdeeds of the preceding

holders of the Note. *** To allow [Wuensch] to walk away with a free and clear title would be just as unfair to the Plaintiff, who presumably did not acquire the Note for free.

(R.96:App.12-13; App.26-27.)

Based on these findings, the court fashioned a remedy it believed was equitable. The court stayed its judgment for 45 days to allow Wuensch to pay off the Note. (R.96:p.13; App.27.) The Judgment specifically denied Deutsche Bank accrued interest, late charges, or Deutsche Bank's attorney fees. (R.96:p.13; App.27.) If Wuensch paid the remaining amount of \$347,826.03 within 45 days, the court would quiet the Deutsche Bank's lien on the property and not enter judgment. (R.96:p.13; App.27.) If Wuensch did not, the foreclosure judgment would be entered as the full amount of \$455,641.85 requested by the Deutsche Bank. (R.96:p.13; App.27.)

The trial court also dismissed Wuensch's counterclaim for fraud as unproven, but it acknowledged "Wuensch was hampered in his presentation of evidence by the Court's rulings" to exclude the assignments and other documents in the foreclosure claim. (R.96 at 10; App.024.)

Court of Appeals

Wuensch appealed to the Court of Appeals, seeking reversal of the judgment of foreclosure and the trial court's dismissal of Wuensch's counterclaims. (R.98.) Wuensch specifically contended that the trial court erred by finding Deutsche Bank possessed the Note, by admitting the Note into evidence, and by allowing Deutsche Bank an equitable remedy in spite of its predecessor's unclean hands. (Wuensch's Ct. App. Br.) The Court of Appeals agreed with Wuensch that the trial court erred by finding Deutsche Bank established possession of the Note, and summarily reversed the trial court's Judgment. (App.001-008.)

The Court held that after Wuensch "unambiguously demanded proof at trial that the plaintiff *possessed* the original Note at issue, the plaintiff failed to offer any evidence on the possession issue at trial." (App.001.) The Court also observed "where the plaintiff's counsel did not take an oath and did not lay a foundation to establish personal knowledge about possession of the original Note, the plaintiff's counsel was not acting as a witness on whose statements or implied statements the circuit court could rely to prove possession." (App.005.) Given Wuensch's unambiguous objections at trial, "sworn testimony from someone with personal knowledge was necessary," but no evidence was provided "from which a reasonable inference of current possession could arise." (App.006-007.) The Court concluded that there is "no shortcut in the law to the admission of necessary evidence at trial." (App.008.)

Deutsche Bank filed a motion to "clarify" the Court of Appeals' order, asking the Court to remand the case to permit Deutsche Bank to provide sworn testimony that it is the current holder of the Note. (App.205.) The Court of Appeals denied the motion, noting that the evidence was closed in this case and expressing "no opinion about the viability of any new foreclosure action that the respondent might pursue." (App.008.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 27, 304 Wis.2d 318, 332, 735 N.W.2d 505, 512. The application of statute to a particular set of facts and is also a question of law requiring de novo review. *Matthies v. Positive Safety Mfg. Co.*, 2001 WI 82, ¶ 15, 244 Wis.2d 720, 734, 628 N.W.2d 842, 850.

Decisions whether to admit or exclude evidence are typically within the circuit court's discretion, but not "'if an evidentiary issue requires construction or application of a statute to a set of facts'." *State v. Jensen*,

12

2007 WI App 256, ¶ 9, 306 Wis.2d 572, 743 N.W.2d 468 (quoting *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 16, 252 Wis.2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777). In such a case, the court is faced with a question of law that is reviewed de novo.

Evidentiary rulings can only be upheld if "'there is evidence in the record that discretion was in fact exercised and the basis of that exercise [is] set forth'." *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis.2d 334, 342, 340 N.W.2d 489, 501 (1983) (quoting *State v. Hutnik*, 39 Wis.2d 754, 764, 159 N.W.2d 733 (1968)). An appellate court will only affirm if the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. *State v. Walters*, 2004 WI 18, ¶¶ 13-14, 269 Wis.2d 142, 151, 675 N.W.2d 778, 782.

A trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error. *Royster-Clark, Inc. v. Olsen's Mill, Inc.*, 2006 WI 46, ¶ 11, 290 Wis.2d 264, 271, 714 N.W.2d 530, 534. Under this standard, they will be set aside if unsupported by the record or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* at ¶¶ 11-12.

A trial court's application of equitable remedies is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion. *Anderson v. Onsager*, 155 Wis.2d 504, 513, 455 N.W.2d 885, 889 (1990).

13

ARGUMENT

I. Deutsche Bank Could Not Foreclose on the Note Because it Failed to Show it Possessed the Note, Regardless of Whether it was Self-Authenticating.

Deutsche Bank had the burden to prove it possessed the Note at issue and, therefore, standing to foreclose on the mortgage. Deutsche Bank did not meet its burden by virtue of an attorney appearing at trial, purportedly on its behalf, producing what he claimed – through unsworn statements – was the Note with an endorsement in blank. Not only was this insufficient under the law, but disputes about Deutsche Bank's possession also precluded self-authentication of the Note. The circuit court erred in granting the drastic remedy of foreclosure on this record. The Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

A. Deutsche Bank Failed to Demonstrate Possession of the Note

A basic prerequisite of enforcing a Note is showing possession of the Note. Deutsche Bank failed to make that showing here.

1. Only a "Holder" of a Note May Enforce it, Which Requires Proof of Possession.

A "holder" of a negotiable instrument is entitled to enforce it. Wis. Stat. § 403.301. "Holder" is defined as the person in possession of the instrument. Wis. Stat. § 401.201(2)(km)1. Where, the instrument is endorsed in blank, it is payable to the "bearer," meaning the person "in possession of [the] instrument." Wis. Stat. §§ 403.205(2), 401.201(2)(cm). Physical possession of the original is thus an indispensable requirement to a plaintiff's enforcement of a Note, even one endorsed in blank.

Possession is typically demonstrated like any evidentiary fact, through sworn testimony of a witness with knowledge that the plaintiff is holder of the Note. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 909.01, 909.015(1). For example, in *PNC Bank, N.A. v. Bierbrauer*, the plaintiff submitted an affidavit from a loan servicer who had inspected the relevant records and averred that PNC was the current holder of the Note and mortgage. 2013 WI App 11, ¶ 3, 346 Wis.2d 1, 827 N.W.2d 124; *see also Dow Family, LLC v. PHH Mortg. Corp.*, 2013 WI App 114, ¶ 21, 350 Wis.2d 411, 838 N.W.2d 119 (noting a witness with knowledge is one means of authenticating evidence).

Additional facts may "militate against a finding" that a plaintiff is a holder of or possesses a Note. In *Dow Family*, the court noted confusion as to the original Note's whereabouts prior to the litigation, disputes about the plaintiff's role as loan servicer or owner, and failure to attach an endorsed copy of the Note to the complaint as facts that called into question whether plaintiff was actually the holder of a version later produced in court. 350 Wis.2d 411, ¶ 23.

15

Indeed, a majority of jurisdictions have held that a party attempting to enforce a Note must have possessed it when all actions leading up to a valid foreclosure – including the filing of the complaint – took place, not just at the time of trial.³ The Court may look to these jurisdictions in interpreting Wisconsin's Uniform Commercial Code, Wis. Stat. chs. 401-411, to promote uniformity in interpreting the Uniform Commercial Code

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