#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

#### **RECEIVED**

11-23-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 15AP175

Thomas P. Wuensch,

Defendant-Appellant,

Heidi Wuensch,

Appellant.

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

On Appeal from the Decision and Order of the Circuit Court for La Crosse County,
Case No. 09CV752
The Honorable Todd W. Bjerke

J PETERMAN LEGAL GROUP, LTD. Attorneys for the Plaintiff-Respondent

Russell J. Karnes State Bar No: 1054982 165 Bishops Way, Suite 100 Brookfield, WI 53005 Telephone: 262-790-5719 Facsimile: 262-790-5721

russ@jplegalgroup.com

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

Wuensch argues that "[t]here was no evidence Plaintiff

possessed the original note." (Br. A. p. 9). This argument is contradicted by the record because Deutsche Bank produced the original Note, which is endorsed in blank, at trial. (Rec. 103:16, R. Supp. App. 116). Therefore, the circuit court did not err when it ruled that Deutsche Bank is entitled to foreclose the Mortgage as the holder of the original Note. (Rec. 96:2, 6, 9, A. App. 7, 11, 14); See Dow Family, LLC v. PHH Mortgage Corp., 2014 WI 56, ¶ 23, 354 Wis. 2d 796, 808, 848 N.W.2d 728, 733 ("We agree with both the circuit court and the court of appeals that the doctrine of equitable assignment is alive and well in Wisconsin. We also agree with the court of appeals' reliance on both case law and Wis. Stat. § 409.203(7) as evidence of the doctrine's existence and application in Wisconsin").

All that is required to prove standing in a foreclosure action is possession of the original Note when the instrument is endorsed in blank. Wis. Stat. §§ 403.301, 403.205(1); *PNC* 

Bank, N.A. v. Bierbrauer, 2013 WI App 11, ¶ 10, 346 Wis.2d 1, 6-7, 827 N.W.2d 124, 126-7 ("[t]he 'holder' of an instrument has the right to enforce that instrument."); Dow Family, LLC v. PHH Mortgage Corp., 2014 WI 56, ¶ 23; Croft v. Bunster, 9 Wis. 503 (1859); Tidioute Sav. Bank v. Libbey, 101 Wis. 193, 197, 77 N.W. 182, 183 (1898); Carpenter v. Longan, 83 U.S. 271, 276-277 (1873).

A note that is endorsed in blank "is payable to bearer and may be negotiated by transfer of possession alone." Wis. Stat. § 403.204(2). A note may be enforced by its holder, a non holder in possession with the rights of a holder, or a person not in possession entitled to enforce the note. *See* Wis. Stat. § 403.301. A servicer representative with personal knowledge may testify that an investor is the holder of a note. *See*, *PNC Bank*, *N.A. v. Bierbrauer*, 2013 WI App 11, ¶ 10.

The Note is admissible because it is self-authenticating as commercial paper. Wis. Stat. § 909.02(9). Wis. Stat. §

909.02(9) provides that "[e]xtrinsic evidence of authenticity as a condition precedent to admissibility is not required with respect to any of the following:...Commercial paper, signatures thereon, and documents relating thereto to the extent provided by chs. 401 to 411).<sup>1</sup> A note is commercial paper because it is a document under Wis. Chs. 401-411. *See*,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Black's Law Dictionary defines commercial paper as: [a]n instrument, other than cash, for the payment of money. • Commercial paper typically existing in the form of a draft (such as a check) or a note (such as a certificate of deposit) — is governed by Article 3 of the UCC. But even though the UCC uses the term commercial paper when referring to negotiable instruments of a particular kind (drafts, checks, certificates of deposit, and notes as defined by Article 3), the term long predates the UCC as a business and legal term in common use. Before the UCC, it was generally viewed as synonymous with negotiable paper or bills and notes. It was sometimes applied even to nonnegotiable instruments. — Also termed mercantile paper; company's paper. See NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENT. " 'Commercial paper' is rather a popular than a technical expression, often used, however, both in statutes and in decisions of courts, to designate those simple forms of contract long recognized in the world's commerce and governed by the law merchant." 1 Joseph F. Randolph, A Treatise on the Law of Commercial Paper § 1, at 1 (2d ed. 1899).

<sup>&</sup>quot;Defined most broadly, commercial paper refers to any writing embodying rights that are customarily conveyed by transferring the writing. A large subset of commercial paper consists of such writings that are negotiable, which means that the law enables a transferee to acquire the embodied rights free of claims and defenses against the transferor." Richard E. Speidel, Negotiable Instruments and Check Collection in a Nutshell 1 (4th ed. 1993). PAPER, Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009), paper.

Cobb State Bank v. Nelson, 141 Wis. 2d 1, 413 N.W.2d 644 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding that a promissory note is commercial paper).

The Note is also admissible as non-hearsay for its legal effect. "[C]ontracts, including promissory notes, are not hearsay when they are offered only for their legal effect 'not to prove the truth of the matter asserted." *Bank of America*, *NA v. Neis*, 2013 WI App 89, ¶49, 349 Wis. 2d 461, 489-90, 835 N.W.2d 527, 541. Therefore, the Note does not need to be authenticated to be admissible.

Deutsche Bank produced the original Note at trial. (Rec. 103:16, R. Supp. App. 116). The circuit court properly admitted the Note into evidence as a self-authenticating negotiable instrument, (Rec. 103:17, R. Supp. App. 117), and found that that the signatures were original, (Rec. 103:15, R. Supp. App. 115). Based on well-established legal principles,

and the evidence presented at trial, the circuit court did not err when it found that Deutsche Bank was the holder of the Note.

#### B. Wuensch's other arguments related to Deutsche Bank's standing are irrelevant to this foreclosure action.

Wuensch argues a menagerie of other reasons as to why the circuit court erred when it ruled that Deutsche Bank had standing as the holder of the Note, none of which are relevant or sufficiently developed. Wuensch argues that there are evidentiary deficiencies related to pooling and servicing agreement, (Br. Ap., p. 9), existence of a trust, (Br. Ap., p. 9), and relationship between the trust and loan servicer, (Br. Ap., p. 10). However, these arguments are all irrelevant because they go beyond the scope of this foreclosure action.

The circuit court agreed when it excluded all of Wuensch's evidence related to the assignments of mortgage. (Rec. 103:18-20, R. Supp. App. 118-20). The circuit court concluded that, based on the fact that Deutsche Bank had

proven that it was the holder of the Note, the evidence related to the assignments of the mortgage should be excluded as irrelevant. (Rec. 103:18-20, R. Supp. App. 118-20). Wuensch failed to specifically challenge this ruling in his brief, therefore, it is waived. *See State v. Nawrocki*, 2008 WI App 23, FN 3, 308 Wis. 2d 227, 232, 746 N.W.2d 509, 512 ("To avoid waiving an argument on appeal, parties should develop in the principal brief all arguments that they reasonably believe may be relevant to the outcome of the case").

Wuensch also fails to develop any cogent argument as to the relevance, applicability, or significance to this action of the pooling and servicing agreement or the trust's relationship to the loan servicer. Further, Wuensch's only cited legal authorities are to general rules of evidence, which are merely tangential to the issues on appeal. (Br. Ap., p. 9-10). Undeveloped arguments and arguments that are not supported by legal authority are not considered on appeal. *Riley v. Town* 

of Hamilton, 153 Wis. 2d 582, 588, 451 N.W.2d 454, 456 (Wis. Ct. App. 1989) (citing "well-established" rules in Public S.E. Union v. Wisconsin E.R. Board, 246 Wis. 190, 199, 16 N.W.2d 823, 827 (1944); County of La Crosse v. City of La Crosse, 108 Wis.2d 560, 572, 322 N.W.2d 531, 536 (Ct.App.1982); Charolais Breeding Ranches v. FPC Securities, 90 Wis.2d 97, 108-09, 279 N.W.2d 493, 499 (Ct.App.1979). Therefore, the Court should not consider Wuensch's arguments related to the trust or pooling and servicing agreement.

In any case, Wuensch lacks standing to challenge the assignments to the trust or the pooling and servicing agreement. The Bankruptcy Court for Eastern District of Wisconsin summed it up nicely in the *In re Edwards* case:

In Wisconsin, a party lacks standing to bring a contract claim if it is neither a party to nor a third party beneficiary of the subject contract. *See Schilling v. Employers Mut. Cas. Co.*, 212 Wis.2d 878, 886, 569 N.W.2d 776 (Ct.App.1997) (only a party or third-party

beneficiary has standing to raise a contract claim). The person claiming third party beneficiary status must show that the contracting parties entered into the agreement for the direct and primary benefit of the third party, either specifically or as a member of a class intended to benefit from the contract. See id. at 886-87, 569 N.W.2d at 780. An indirect benefit incidental to the primary purpose of the contract is insufficient to confer third party beneficiary status. See id. at 887, 569 N.W.2d at 780. The debtor was neither a party to the pooling or servicing agreements nor a potential third party beneficiary of those agreements, so his standing to challenge the assignments is lacking. Aside from the fact that the debtor is without standing to seek relief for violations of the Pooling and Servicing Agreement, those alleged violations are irrelevant to Deutsche Bank's standing to enforce the Note under the Uniform Commercial Code, as discussed below.

In re Edwards, 11-23195, ¶4, 2011 WL 6754073 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 2011); see also, In re Rinaldi, 487 B.R. 516, 529 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 2013) ("It is well-settled that a borrower lacks standing to challenge the validity of a loan assignment based on issues related to a Pooling and Servicing Agreement ("PSA"), because a borrower is neither a party to the PSA nor a third party beneficiary.") (affm'd, Rinaldi v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., 13-CV-336-JPS, 2013 WL 5876233 (E.D. Wis.

Oct. 31, 2013); see also, In re Sandford, 2012 WL 6012785, \*3, 2012 Bankr.LEXIS 5609, \*9–10 (Bankr.D.N.M. Dec. 3, 2012) (citing numerous cases, including In re Edwards that "a borrower lacks standing to challenge the validity of a loan assignment based on alleged noncompliance with a PSA, because the borrower is neither a party to the PSA nor a third party beneficiary."); see also, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Alexander, 2013 WI App 115, 350 Wis. 2d 506, 838 N.W.2d 137 (citing In re Edwards favorably for the principle of equitable assignment).

Wuensch did not prove that he is a party to the assignments, trust, or pooling and servicing agreement. Therefore, the circuit court properly recognized that under Wisconsin law, those documents were not relevant because Wuensch lacks authority to challenge those documents. Therefore, the circuit court did not err when it ruled that

Deutsche Bank was the holder of the Note and excluded all of Wuensch's irrelevant evidence related to the assignments.

## II. THE DOCTRINE OF UNCLEAN HANDS DOES NOT BAR DEUTSCHE BANK'S FORECLOSURE ACTION.

Wuensch argues that the circuit court erred in granting a judgment of foreclosure in favor of Deutsche Bank. (Br. App. p. 14). Specifically, Wuensch maintains that the circuit court erred when it found that purported problems that occurred with Wuensch's loan while it was being serviced by a prior loan servicer did not bar Deutsche Bank's ability to foreclose. (Br. App. p. 14). However, Wuensch misconstrues the circuit court's findings, and misconstrues the doctrine of unclean hands. Further, Wuensch fails to recognize that the circuit court took into account the purported acts of the prior servicer when it crafted its equitable remedy.

Contrary to Wuensch's assertion, the circuit court did not find that Deutsche Bank had unclean hands. It found that

Wuensch was in breach of the loan contract, and that while some past irregularities may have contributed to Wuensch being in his current position, the circuit court found that ultimate default was caused by Wuensch's failure to make payments.

Indeed, the circuit court stated that the "problems [with Wuensch's loan] do not appear to be the fault of the current holder of Wuensch's Note, the Plaintiff." (Rec. 96:12; A. App. 17). So while the circuit court found that "AHMSI [American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc., the prior loan servicer] *may* have misapplied one or more of Wuensch's payments" (emphasis added), and that Wuensch had difficulties communicating with AHMSI to cure his default, (Rec. 96:11; A. App. 16), it also found that "Wuensch...did not prove his counterclaim for fraud," (Rec. 96:10; A. App. 15). And while the circuit court also found that "the seemingly unregulated transferring of mortgages during the

housing bubble and crash *contributed* to Wuensch finding himself in this position [in default]," (emphasis added) (Rec. 96:11; A. App. 16), it also found that "there is no dispute that [Wuensch] has not made a mortgage payment on the Note since February of 2008 and he is therefore in default." (Rec. 96:9; A. App. 14).

"For relief to be denied a plaintiff in equity under the 'clean hands' doctrine, it must be shown that the alleged conduct constituting 'unclean hands' caused the harm from which the plaintiff seeks relief[;]'it must clearly appear that the things from which the plaintiff seeks relief are the fruit of its own wrongful or unlawful course of conduct.' *Id.* (Emphasis added.)" *Sec. Pac. Nat. Bank v. Ginkowski*, 140 Wis. 2d 332, 339, 410 N.W.2d 589, 593 (Ct. App. 1987) (*quoting S & M Rotogravure Serv. v. Baer*, 77 Wis.2d 454, 467, 252 N.W.2d 913, 919 (1977)).

In this case, the harm is the failure of Wuensch to make his loan payment since February, 2008. Deutsche Bank seeks enforcement of the loan by foreclosing the Mortgage. Deutsche Bank did not cause Wuensch to stop making his loan payment. The harm was ultimately caused by Wuensch's failure to make timely payments. Therefore, the foreclosure is not barred by the doctrine of unclean hands.

In support of his argument, Wuensch conflates his standing arguments with the doctrine of unclean hands. None of Wuensch's standing arguments are relevant or helpful to the Court's examination of the unclean hands doctrine, because the circuit court did not err by failing to recognize the prior loan servicer's role in circumstances leading up to this case. Indeed, the circuit court recognized the prior loan servicer's potential contribution to the circumstances, and crafted its equitable remedy accordingly.

Specifically, Wuensch argues that the relationship with the prior loan servicer and subject trust in regards to the pooling and servicing agreement somehow prohibits Deutsche Bank from foreclosing the Mortgage. (Br. App. pp. 14-15). But Wuensch fails to cite any specific provision of the pooling and servicing agreement to support this position. Further, as already discussed, Wuensch lacks standing to challenge the provisions of the pooling and servicing agreement. *In re Edwards*, 11-23195, ¶4, 2011 WL 6754073.

Similarly, Wuensch argues that because there was no proof presented at trial that "Plaintiff [sic] is a 'holder in due course [of the Note].'" (Br. App. p. 16). Wuensch then argues that because Deutsche Bank is not a holder in due course, that it is subject to the "unclean hands…defense to a simple contract." (Br. App. p. 17).

Wuensch fails to articulate how the significance of Deutsche Bank proving, or failing to prove, that it was the

holder in due course would affect the outcome of this case. This is probably because being a holder in due course has no impact on whether Deutsche Bank can pursue this foreclosure action. The holder in due course defense is a creditor's defense that can be asserted between commercial parties. *See* Wis. Stat. § 403.302. It protects the purchaser of a debt from common-law defenses, including conversion, as long as the statutory requirements are met. *See United Catholic Par. Sch. of Beaver Dam Educ. Ass'n v. Card Servs. Ctr.*, 2001 WI App 229, ¶¶ 9-11, 248 Wis. 2d 463, 472-73, 636 N.W.2d 206, 210.

Wuensch does suggest that he may be able to assert defenses as set forth in Wis. Stat. § 403.305(2) if Deutsche Bank is not a holder in due course. But critically, Wuensch failed to plead these defenses, despite filing three amended pleadings. (Rec. 2, 16, 48, R. Supp. App. 213-34). Because Wuensch failed to plead these defenses, they are waived. *See, e.g., Dieck v. Unified Sch. Dist. of Antigo, Langlade,*

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